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ing because of a party’s litigation miscon-
duct, whatever the reasonableness of his
claims or defenses.  See, e.g., Viva Video,
Inc. v. Cabrera, 9 Fed.Appx. 77, 80 (C.A.2
2001).  Or a court may do so to deter
repeated instances of copyright infringe-
ment or overaggressive assertions of copy-
right claims, again even if the losing posi-
tion was reasonable in a particular case.
See, e.g., Bridgeport Music, Inc. v. WB
Music Corp., 520 F.3d 588, 593–595 (C.A.6
2008) (awarding fees against a copyright
holder who filed hundreds of suits on an
overbroad legal theory, including in a sub-
set of cases in which it was objectively
reasonable).  Although objective reason-
ableness carries significant weight, courts
must view all the circumstances of a case
on their own terms, in light of the Copy-
right Act’s essential goals.

[17] And on that score, Kirtsaeng has
raised serious questions about how fee-
shifting actually operates in the Second
Circuit.  To be sure, the Court of Appeals’
framing of the inquiry resembles our own:
It calls for a district court to give ‘‘sub-
stantial weight’’ to the reasonableness of a
losing party’s litigating positions while also
considering other relevant circumstances.
See 605 Fed.Appx., at 49–50;  Matthew
Bender, 240 F.3d, at 122.  But the Court
of Appeals’ language at times suggests
that a finding of reasonableness raises a
presumption against granting fees, see
ibid.;  supra, at 1983 – 1985—and that goes
too far in cabining how a district court
must structure its analysis and what it
may conclude from its review of relevant
factors.  Still more, district courts in the
Second Circuit appear to have overly
learned the Court of Appeals’ lesson, turn-
ing ‘‘substantial’’ into more nearly ‘‘disposi-
tive’’ weight.  As Kirtsaeng notes, hardly
any decisions in that Circuit have granted
fees when the losing party raised a reason-
able argument (and none have denied fees

when the losing party failed to do so).  See
Reply Brief 15.  For these reasons, we
vacate the decision below so that the Dis-
trict Court can take another look at Kirt-
saeng’s fee application.  In sending back
the case for this purpose, we do not at all
intimate that the District Court should
reach a different conclusion.  Rather, we
merely ensure that the court will evaluate
the motion consistent with the analysis we
have set out—giving substantial weight to
the reasonableness of Wiley’s litigating po-
sition, but also taking into account all oth-
er relevant factors.

* * *

The judgment of the Court of Appeals is
vacated, and the case is remanded for fur-
ther proceedings consistent with this opin-
ion.

It is so ordered.

,
  

UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES,
INC., Petitioner

v.

UNITED STATES and Massachusetts,
ex rel. Julio Escobar and Carmen

Correa.
No. 15–7.

Argued April 19, 2016.

Decided June 16, 2016.
Background:  Parents, as relators,
brought qui tam suit against healthcare
provider under the False Claims Act
(FCA) after their daughter died of a sei-
zure when she was being treated at a
mental health clinic by various unlicensed
and unsupervised staff in violation of state
Medicaid regulations. The United States
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District Court for the District of Massa-
chusetts, Douglas P. Woodlock, J., 2014
WL 1271757, dismissed, and parents ap-
pealed. The United States Court of Ap-
peals for the First Circuit, Stahl, Circuit
Judge, 780 F.3d 504, affirmed in part, re-
versed in part, and remanded. Certiorari
was granted.

Holdings:  The Supreme Court, Justice
Thomas, held that:

(1) the implied false certification theory
can be a basis for liability under the
FCA in some circumstances, abrogat-
ing U.S. v. Sanford–Brown, Ltd., 788
F.3d 696, and

(2) the FCA does not limit liability only to
instances where the defendant fails to
disclose the violation of a contractual,
statutory, or regulatory provision that
the government expressly designated a
condition of payment, abrogating
Mikes v. Straus, 274 F.3d 687.

Vacated and remanded.

1. United States O1258

The ‘‘implied false certification theo-
ry,’’ providing that when a defendant sub-
mits a claim it impliedly certifies compli-
ance with all conditions of payment, can
be a basis for liability under the False
Claims Act (FCA), at least where two con-
ditions are satisfied: (1) the claim does not
merely request payment, but also makes
specific representations about the goods or
services provided; and (2) the defendant’s
failure to disclose noncompliance with ma-
terial statutory, regulatory, or contractual
requirements makes those representations
misleading half-truths; abrogating U.S. v.
Sanford–Brown, Ltd., 788 F.3d 696.  31
U.S.C.A. § 3729(a)(1)(A).

 See publication Words and Phras-
es for other judicial constructions
and definitions.

2. United States O1257

By punishing defendants who submit
‘‘false or fraudulent claims,’’ the False
Claims Act (FCA) encompasses claims that
make fraudulent misrepresentations, which
include certain misleading omissions.  31
U.S.C.A. § 3729(a)(1)(A).

3. United States O1258

When a defendant makes representa-
tions in submitting a claim but omits its
violations of statutory, regulatory, or con-
tractual requirements, those omissions
can, pursuant to the implied false certifica-
tion theory, be a basis for liability under
the False Claims Act (FCA) if they render
the defendant’s representations misleading
with respect to the goods or services pro-
vided.  31 U.S.C.A. § 3729(a)(1)(A).

4. Statutes O1205

Absent other indication, Congress in-
tends to incorporate the well-settled mean-
ing of the common-law terms it uses.

5. United States O1252

Although the False Claims Act (FCA)
abrogated the common law in certain re-
spects, including that the Act’s scienter
requirement required no proof of specific
intent to defraud, the court would pre-
sume, when interpreting common-law
terms used in the Act, that Congress re-
tained all other elements of common-law
fraud that were consistent with the statu-
tory text, because there were no textual
indicia to the contrary.  31 U.S.C.A.
§ 3729 et seq.

6. United States O1257

Because common-law fraud has long
encompassed certain misrepresentations
by omission, ‘‘false or fraudulent claims’’
within the meaning of the False Claims
Act (FCA) include more than just claims
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containing express falsehoods.  31
U.S.C.A. § 3729(a)(1)(A).

 See publication Words and Phras-
es for other judicial constructions
and definitions.

7. United States O1257
‘‘Half-truths,’’ that is, representations

that state the truth only so far as it goes,
while omitting critical qualifying informa-
tion, can be actionable misrepresentations
under the False Claims Act (FCA).  31
U.S.C.A. § 3729(a)(1)(A).

 See publication Words and Phras-
es for other judicial constructions
and definitions.

8. Fraud O17
In tort law, if the defendant does

speak, he must disclose enough to prevent
his words from being misleading.

9. Fraud O16
A statement that contains only favor-

able matters and omits all reference to
unfavorable matters is as much a false
representation as if all the facts stated
were untrue.  Restatement (Second) of
Torts § 529.

10. United States O1258, 1259
The False Claims Act (FCA) does not

limit liability only to instances where the
defendant fails to disclose the violation of a
contractual, statutory, or regulatory provi-
sion that the government expressly desig-
nated a condition of payment; abrogating
Mikes v. Straus, 274 F.3d 687.  31
U.S.C.A. § 3729(a)(1)(A).

11. United States O1258, 1259
Not every undisclosed violation of an

express condition of payment automatically
triggers liability under the False Claims
Act (FCA).  31 U.S.C.A. § 3729(a)(1)(A).

12. United States O1259
Whether a provision allegedly violated

by the defendant is labeled a condition of

payment is relevant to but not dispositive
of the materiality inquiry into whether de-
fendant has made an actionable false or
fraudulent claim under the False Claims
Act (FCA).  31 U.S.C.A. § 3729(a)(1)(A),
(b)(4).

13. Fraud O16

A statement that misleadingly omits
critical facts is a fraudulent misrepresenta-
tion irrespective of whether the other par-
ty has expressly signaled the importance
of the qualifying information.

14. Statutes O1187

Policy arguments cannot supersede
the clear statutory text.

15. United States O1259

A misrepresentation about compliance
with a statutory, regulatory, or contractual
requirement must be material to the gov-
ernment’s payment decision in order to be
actionable under the False Claims Act
(FCA).  31 U.S.C.A. § 3729(a)(1)(A),
(b)(4).

16. United States O1259

Materiality, for purposes of determin-
ing whether a misrepresentation is action-
able under the False Claims Act (FCA),
looks to the effect on the likely or actual
behavior of the recipient of the alleged
misrepresentation.  31 U.S.C.A.
§ 3729(a)(1)(A), (b)(4).

17. Fraud O18

In tort law, a matter is ‘‘material’’ in
only two circumstances: (1) if a reasonable
man would attach importance to it in de-
termining his choice of action in the trans-
action;  or (2) if the defendant knew or had
reason to know that the recipient of the
representation attaches importance to the
specific matter in determining his choice of
action, even though a reasonable person
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would not.  Restatement (Second) of Torts
§ 538.

 See publication Words and Phras-
es for other judicial constructions
and definitions.

18. United States O1259
The False Claims Act’s (FCA) materi-

ality standard for an actionable false or
fraudulent claim is demanding.  31
U.S.C.A. § 3729(a)(1)(A), (b)(4).

19. United States O1251
The False Claims Act (FCA) is not an

all-purpose antifraud statute or a vehicle
for punishing garden-variety breaches of
contract or regulatory violations.  31
U.S.C.A. § 3729 et seq.

20. United States O1259
A misrepresentation cannot be

deemed ‘‘material,’’ as required to give rise
to liability under the False Claims Act
(FCA), merely because the government
designates compliance with a particular
statutory, regulatory, or contractual re-
quirement as a condition of payment; nor
is it sufficient for a finding of materiality
that the government would have the option
to decline to pay if it knew of the defen-
dant’s noncompliance.  31 U.S.C.A.
§ 3729(a)(1)(A), (b)(4).

21. United States O1259
The materiality required for a misrep-

resentation to be actionable under the
False Claims Act (FCA) cannot be found
where noncompliance with a particular
statutory, regulatory, or contractual re-
quirement is minor or insubstantial.  31
U.S.C.A. §§ 3729(a)(1)(A), (b)(4).

22. United States O1259
Proof of the materiality of a misrepre-

sentation about compliance with a statuto-
ry, regulatory, or contractual requirement,
as required for the misrepresentation to be
actionable under the False Claims Act
(FCA), can include, but is not necessarily

limited to, evidence that the defendant
knows that the government consistently
refuses to pay claims in the mine run of
cases based on noncompliance with the
particular statutory, regulatory, or con-
tractual requirement.  31 U.S.C.A.
§ 3729(a)(1)(A), (b)(4).

23. United States O1259

It is strong evidence that particular
statutory, regulatory, or contractual re-
quirements are not material, and thus vio-
lations of the requirements do not give rise
to liability under the False Claims Act
(FCA), if the government pays a particular
claim in full despite its actual knowledge
that certain requirements were violated, or
if the government regularly pays a particu-
lar type of claim in full despite actual
knowledge that certain requirements were
violated, and has signaled no change in
position.  31 U.S.C.A. § 3729(a)(1)(A),
(b)(4).

24. Federal Civil Procedure O636
 United States O1259

False Claims Act (FCA) plaintiffs
must plead their claims with plausibility
and particularity by, for instance, pleading
facts to support allegations of materiality.
31 U.S.C.A. § 3729 et seq.; Fed.Rules Civ.
Proc.Rules 8, 9(b), 28 U.S.C.A.

25. United States O1259

A statutory, regulatory, or contractual
violation is not ‘‘material,’’ and thus cannot
give rise to liability under the False
Claims Act (FCA), merely because the de-
fendant knows that the government would
be entitled to refuse payment were it
aware of the violation.  31 U.S.C.A.
§ 3729(a)(1)(A), (b)(4).

26. United States O1259, 1289

The False Claims Act (FCA) is not a
means of imposing treble damages and
other penalties for insignificant regulatory
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or contractual violations.  31 U.S.C.A.
§ 3729 et seq.

Syllabus *

Yarushka Rivera, a teenage beneficia-
ry of Massachusetts’ Medicaid program,
received counseling services for several
years at Arbour Counseling Services, a
satellite mental health facility owned and
operated by a subsidiary of petitioner Uni-
versal Health Services, Inc. She had an
adverse reaction to a medication that a
purported doctor at Arbour prescribed af-
ter diagnosing her with bipolar disorder.
Her condition worsened, and she eventual-
ly died of a seizure.  Respondents, her
mother and stepfather, later discovered
that few Arbour employees were actually
licensed to provide mental health counsel-
ing or authorized to prescribe medications
or offer counseling services without super-
vision.

Respondents filed a qui tam suit, al-
leging that Universal Health had violated
the False Claims Act (FCA).  That Act
imposes significant penalties on anyone
who ‘‘knowingly presents TTT a false or
fraudulent claim for payment or approval’’
to the Federal Government, 31 U.S.C.
§ 3729(a)(1)(A).  Respondents sought to
hold Universal Health liable under what is
commonly referred to as an ‘‘implied false
certification theory of liability,’’ which
treats a payment request as a claimant’s
implied certification of compliance with rel-
evant statutes, regulations, or contract re-
quirements that are material conditions of
payment and treats a failure to disclose a
violation as a misrepresentation that ren-
ders the claim ‘‘false or fraudulent.’’  Spe-
cifically, respondents alleged, Universal
Health (acting through Arbour) defrauded
the Medicaid program by submitting reim-

bursement claims that made representa-
tions about the specific services provided
by specific types of professionals, but that
failed to disclose serious violations of Mas-
sachusetts Medicaid regulations pertaining
to staff qualifications and licensing re-
quirements for these services.  Universal
Health thus allegedly defrauded the pro-
gram because Universal Health knowingly
misrepresented its compliance with mental
health facility requirements that are so
central to the provision of mental health
counseling that the Medicaid program
would have refused to pay these claims
had it known of these violations.

The District Court granted Universal
Health’s motion to dismiss.  It held that
respondents had failed to state a claim
under the ‘‘implied false certification’’ the-
ory of liability because none of the regula-
tions violated by Arbour was a condition of
payment.  The First Circuit reversed in
relevant part, holding that every submis-
sion of a claim implicitly represents com-
pliance with relevant regulations, and that
any undisclosed violation of a precondition
of payment (whether or not expressly
identified as such) renders a claim ‘‘false
or fraudulent.’’  The First Circuit further
held that the regulations themselves pro-
vided conclusive evidence that compliance
was a material condition of payment be-
cause the regulations expressly required
facilities to adequately supervise staff as a
condition of payment.

Held :
1. The implied false certification the-

ory can be a basis for FCA liability when a
defendant submitting a claim makes spe-
cific representations about the goods or
services provided, but fails to disclose non-
compliance with material statutory, regula-
tory, or contractual requirements that

* The syllabus constitutes no part of the opinion
of the Court but has been prepared by the
Reporter of Decisions for the convenience of

the reader.  See United States v. Detroit Tim-
ber & Lumber Co., 200 U.S. 321, 337, 26 S.Ct.
282, 50 L.Ed. 499.
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make those representations misleading
with respect to those goods or services.
Pp. 1999 – 2001.

(a) The FCA does not define a ‘‘false’’
or ‘‘fraudulent’’ claim, so the Court turns
to the principle that ‘‘absent other indica-
tion, ‘Congress intends to incorporate the
well-settled meaning of the common-law
terms it uses,’ ’’ Sekhar v. United States,
570 U.S. ––––, ––––, 133 S.Ct. 2720, 2724,
186 L.Ed.2d 794. Under the common-law
definition of ‘‘fraud,’’ the parties agree,
certain misrepresentations by omission can
give rise to FCA liability.  Respondents
and the Government contend that every
claim for payment implicitly represents
that the claimant is legally entitled to pay-
ment, and that failing to disclose violations
of material legal requirements renders the
claim misleading.  Universal Health, on
the other hand, argues that submitting a
claim involves no representations and that
the nondisclosure of legal violations is not
actionable absent a special duty of reason-
able care to disclose such matters.  To-
day’s decision holds that the claims at
issue may be actionable because they do
more than merely demand payment;  they
fall squarely within the rule that represen-
tations that state the truth only so far as it
goes, while omitting critical qualifying in-
formation, can be actionable misrepresen-
tations.  Pp. 1999 – 2000.

(b) By submitting claims for payment
using payment codes corresponding to spe-
cific counseling services, Universal Health
represented that it had provided specific
types of treatment.  And Arbour staff al-
legedly made further representations by
using National Provider Identification
numbers corresponding to specific job ti-
tles.  By conveying this information with-
out disclosing Arbour’s many violations of
basic staff and licensing requirements for
mental health facilities, Universal Health’s
claims constituted misrepresentations.
Pp. 2000 – 2001.

2. Contrary to Universal Health’s
contentions, FCA liability for failing to
disclose violations of legal requirements
does not turn upon whether those require-
ments were expressly designated as condi-
tions of payment.  Pp. 2000 – 2004.

(a) Section 3729(a)(1)(A), which im-
poses liability on those presenting ‘‘false
or fraudulent claim[s],’’ does not limit
claims to misrepresentations about ex-
press conditions of payment.  Nothing in
the text supports such a restriction.  And
under the Act’s materiality requirement,
statutory, regulatory, and contractual re-
quirements are not automatically material,
even if they are labeled conditions of pay-
ment.  Nor is the restriction supported by
the Act’s scienter requirement.  A defen-
dant can have ‘‘actual knowledge’’ that a
condition is material even if the Govern-
ment does not expressly call it a condition
of payment.  What matters is not the label
that the Government attaches to a re-
quirement, but whether the defendant
knowingly violated a requirement that the
defendant knows is material to the Gov-
ernment’s payment decision.  Universal
Health’s policy arguments are unavailing,
and are amply addressed through strict
enforcement of the FCA’s stringent mate-
riality and scienter provisions.  Pp. 2001 –
2003.

(b) A misrepresentation about compli-
ance with a statutory, regulatory, or con-
tractual requirement must be material to
the Government’s payment decision in or-
der to be actionable under the FCA. The
FCA’s materiality requirement is demand-
ing.  An undisclosed fact is material if, for
instance, ‘‘[n]o one can say with reason
that the plaintiff would have signed this
contract if informed of the likelihood’’ of
the undisclosed fact.  Junius Constr. Co.
v. Cohen, 257 N.Y. 393, 400, 178 N.E. 672,
674.  When evaluating the FCA’s material-
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ity requirement, the Government’s decision
to expressly identify a provision as a condi-
tion of payment is relevant, but not auto-
matically dispositive.  A misrepresentation
cannot be deemed material merely because
the Government designates compliance
with a particular requirement as a condi-
tion of payment.  Nor is the Government’s
option to decline to pay if it knew of the
defendant’s noncompliance sufficient for a
finding of materiality.  Materiality also
cannot be found where noncompliance is
minor or insubstantial.  Moreover, if the
Government pays a particular claim in full
despite its actual knowledge that certain
requirements were violated, that is very
strong evidence that those requirements
are not material.  The FCA thus does not
support the Government’s and First Cir-
cuit’s expansive view that any statutory,
regulatory, or contractual violation is ma-
terial so long as the defendant knows that
the Government would be entitled to re-
fuse payment were it aware of the viola-
tion.  Pp. 2002 – 2004.

780 F.3d 504, vacated and remanded.
THOMAS, J., delivered the opinion

for a unanimous Court.

Roy T. Englert, Jr., Washington, DC,
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Justice THOMAS delivered the opinion
of the Court.

The False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729
et seq., imposes significant penalties on
those who defraud the Government.  This
case concerns a theory of False Claims Act
liability commonly referred to as ‘‘implied
false certification.’’  According to this the-
ory, when a defendant submits a claim, it
impliedly certifies compliance with all con-
ditions of payment.  But if that claim fails
to disclose the defendant’s violation of a
material statutory, regulatory, or contrac-
tual requirement, so the theory goes, the
defendant has made a misrepresentation
that renders the claim ‘‘false or fraudu-
lent’’ under § 3729(a)(1)(A).  This case re-
quires us to consider this theory of liability
and to clarify some of the circumstances in
which the False Claims Act imposes liabili-
ty.

We first hold that, at least in certain
circumstances, the implied false certifica-
tion theory can be a basis for liability.
Specifically, liability can attach when the
defendant submits a claim for payment
that makes specific representations about
the goods or services provided, but know-
ingly fails to disclose the defendant’s non-
compliance with a statutory, regulatory, or
contractual requirement.  In these circum-
stances, liability may attach if the omission
renders those representations misleading.
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We further hold that False Claims Act
liability for failing to disclose violations of
legal requirements does not turn upon
whether those requirements were express-
ly designated as conditions of payment.
Defendants can be liable for violating re-
quirements even if they were not expressly
designated as conditions of payment.
Conversely, even when a requirement is
expressly designated a condition of pay-
ment, not every violation of such a require-
ment gives rise to liability.  What matters
is not the label the Government attaches to
a requirement, but whether the defendant
knowingly violated a requirement that the
defendant knows is material to the Gov-
ernment’s payment decision.

A misrepresentation about compliance
with a statutory, regulatory, or contractual
requirement must be material to the Gov-
ernment’s payment decision in order to be
actionable under the False Claims Act. We
clarify below how that rigorous materiality
requirement should be enforced.

Because the courts below interpreted
§ 3729(a)(1)(A) differently, we vacate the
judgment and remand so that those courts
may apply the approach set out in this
opinion.

I

A
Enacted in 1863, the False Claims Act

‘‘was originally aimed principally at stop-
ping the massive frauds perpetrated by
large contractors during the Civil War.’’
United States v. Bornstein, 423 U.S. 303,
309, 96 S.Ct. 523, 46 L.Ed.2d 514 (1976).
‘‘[A] series of sensational congressional in-
vestigations’’ prompted hearings where
witnesses ‘‘painted a sordid picture of how
the United States had been billed for non-
existent or worthless goods, charged exor-
bitant prices for goods delivered, and gen-
erally robbed in purchasing the necessities

of war.’’  United States v. McNinch, 356
U.S. 595, 599, 78 S.Ct. 950, 2 L.Ed.2d 1001
(1958).  Congress responded by imposing
civil and criminal liability for 10 types of
fraud on the Government, subjecting viola-
tors to double damages, forfeiture, and up
to five years’ imprisonment.  Act of Mar.
2, 1863, ch. 67, 12 Stat. 696.

Since then, Congress has repeatedly
amended the Act, but its focus remains on
those who present or directly induce the
submission of false or fraudulent claims.
See 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a) (imposing civil
liability on ‘‘any person who TTT knowingly
presents, or causes to be presented, a false
or fraudulent claim for payment or approv-
al’’).  A ‘‘claim’’ now includes direct re-
quests to the Government for payment as
well as reimbursement requests made to
the recipients of federal funds under feder-
al benefits programs.  See § 3729(b)(2)(A).
The Act’s scienter requirement defines
‘‘knowing’’ and ‘‘knowingly’’ to mean that a
person has ‘‘actual knowledge of the infor-
mation,’’ ‘‘acts in deliberate ignorance of
the truth or falsity of the information,’’ or
‘‘acts in reckless disregard of the truth or
falsity of the information.’’ § 3729(b)(1)(A).
And the Act defines ‘‘material’’ to mean
‘‘having a natural tendency to influence, or
be capable of influencing, the payment or
receipt of money or property.’’
§ 3729(b)(4).

Congress also has increased the Act’s
civil penalties so that liability is ‘‘essential-
ly punitive in nature.’’  Vermont Agency of
Natural Resources v. United States ex rel.
Stevens, 529 U.S. 765, 784, 120 S.Ct. 1858,
146 L.Ed.2d 836 (2000).  Defendants are
subjected to treble damages plus civil pen-
alties of up to $10,000 per false claim.
§ 3729(a);  28 CFR § 85.3(a)(9) (2015) (ad-
justing penalties for inflation).

B
The alleged False Claims Act violations

here arose within the Medicaid program, a
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joint state-federal program in which
healthcare providers serve poor or dis-
abled patients and submit claims for gov-
ernment reimbursement.  See generally 42
U.S.C. § 1396 et seq.  The facts recited in
the complaint, which we take as true at
this stage, are as follows.  For five years,
Yarushka Rivera, a teenage beneficiary of
Massachusetts’ Medicaid program, re-
ceived counseling services at Arbour Coun-
seling Services, a satellite mental health
facility in Lawrence, Massachusetts, owned
and operated by a subsidiary of petitioner
Universal Health Services.  Beginning in
2004, when Yarushka started having be-
havioral problems, five medical profession-
als at Arbour intermittently treated her.
In May 2009, Yarushka had an adverse
reaction to a medication that a purported
doctor at Arbour prescribed after diagnos-
ing her with bipolar disorder.  Her condi-
tion worsened;  she suffered a seizure that
required hospitalization.  In October 2009,
she suffered another seizure and died.
She was 17 years old.

Thereafter, an Arbour counselor re-
vealed to respondents Carmen Correa and
Julio Escobar—Yarushka’s mother and
stepfather—that few Arbour employees
were actually licensed to provide mental
health counseling and that supervision of
them was minimal.  Respondents discover-
ed that, of the five professionals who had
treated Yarushka, only one was properly
licensed.  The practitioner who diagnosed
Yarushka as bipolar identified herself as a
psychologist with a Ph. D., but failed to
mention that her degree came from an
unaccredited Internet college and that
Massachusetts had rejected her application
to be licensed as a psychologist.  Likewise,
the practitioner who prescribed medicine
to Yarushka, and who was held out as a
psychiatrist, was in fact a nurse who
lacked authority to prescribe medications
absent supervision.  Rather than ensuring
supervision of unlicensed staff, the clinic’s

director helped to misrepresent the staff’s
qualifications.  And the problem went be-
yond those who treated Yarushka.  Some
23 Arbour employees lacked licenses to
provide mental health services, yet—de-
spite regulatory requirements to the con-
trary—they counseled patients and pre-
scribed drugs without supervision.

When submitting reimbursement claims,
Arbour used payment codes corresponding
to different services that its staff provided
to Yarushka, such as ‘‘Individual Therapy’’
and ‘‘family therapy.’’  1 App. 19, 20.
Staff members also misrepresented their
qualifications and licensing status to the
Federal Government to obtain individual
National Provider Identification numbers,
which are submitted in connection with
Medicaid reimbursement claims and corre-
spond to specific job titles.  For instance,
one Arbour staff member who treated Ya-
rushka registered for a number associated
with ‘‘ ‘Social Worker, Clinical,’ ’’ despite
lacking the credentials and licensing re-
quired for social workers engaged in men-
tal health counseling. 1 id., at 32.

After researching Arbour’s operations,
respondents filed complaints with various
Massachusetts agencies.  Massachusetts
investigated and ultimately issued a report
detailing Arbour’s violation of over a dozen
Massachusetts Medicaid regulations gov-
erning the qualifications and supervision
required for staff at mental health facili-
ties.  Arbour agreed to a remedial plan,
and two Arbour employees also entered
into consent agreements with Massachu-
setts.

In 2011, respondents filed a qui tam suit
in federal court, see 31 U.S.C. § 3730,
alleging that Universal Health had violated
the False Claims Act under an implied
false certification theory of liability.  The
operative complaint asserts that Universal
Health (acting through Arbour) submitted
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reimbursement claims that made represen-
tations about the specific services provided
by specific types of professionals, but that
failed to disclose serious violations of regu-
lations pertaining to staff qualifications
and licensing requirements for these ser-
vices.1  Specifically, the Massachusetts
Medicaid program requires satellite facili-
ties to have specific types of clinicians on
staff, delineates licensing requirements for
particular positions (like psychiatrists, so-
cial workers, and nurses), and details su-
pervision requirements for other staff.
See 130 Code Mass. Regs. §§ 429.422–424,
429.439 (2014).  Universal Health allegedly
flouted these regulations because Arbour
employed unqualified, unlicensed, and un-
supervised staff.  The Massachusetts Med-
icaid program, unaware of these deficien-
cies, paid the claims.  Universal Health
thus allegedly defrauded the program,
which would not have reimbursed the
claims had it known that it was billed for
mental health services that were per-
formed by unlicensed and unsupervised
staff.  The United States declined to inter-
vene.

The District Court granted Universal
Health’s motion to dismiss the complaint.
Circuit precedent had previously embraced
the implied false certification theory of
liability.  See, e.g., United States ex rel.
Hutcheson v. Blackstone Medical, Inc.,
647 F.3d 377, 385–387 (C.A.1 2011).  But
the District Court held that respondents
had failed to state a claim under that
theory because, with one exception not
relevant here, none of the regulations that
Arbour violated was a condition of pay-
ment.  See 2014 WL 1271757, *1, *6–*12
(D.Mass., Mar. 26, 2014).

The United States Court of Appeals for
the First Circuit reversed in relevant part
and remanded.  780 F.3d 504, 517 (2015).
The court observed that each time a billing
party submits a claim, it ‘‘implicitly com-
municate[s] that it conformed to the rele-
vant program requirements, such that it
was entitled to payment.’’  Id., at 514, n.
14.  To determine whether a claim is
‘‘false or fraudulent’’ based on such implicit
communications, the court explained, it
‘‘asks simply whether the defendant, in
submitting a claim for reimbursement,
knowingly misrepresented compliance with
a material precondition of payment.’’  Id.,
at 512.  In the court’s view, a statutory,
regulatory, or contractual requirement can
be a condition of payment either by ex-
pressly identifying itself as such or by
implication.  Id., at 512–513.  The court
then held that Universal Health had violat-
ed Massachusetts Medicaid regulations
that ‘‘clearly impose conditions of pay-
ment.’’  Id., at 513.  The court further
held that the regulations themselves ‘‘con-
stitute[d] dispositive evidence of materiali-
ty,’’ because they identified adequate su-
pervision as an ‘‘express and absolute’’
condition of payment and ‘‘repeated[ly]
reference[d]’’ supervision.  Id., at 514 (in-
ternal quotation marks omitted).

We granted certiorari to resolve the dis-
agreement among the Courts of Appeals
over the validity and scope of the implied
false certification theory of liability.  577
U.S. ––––, 136 S.Ct. 582, 193 L.Ed.2d 465
(2015).  The Seventh Circuit has rejected
this theory, reasoning that only express
(or affirmative) falsehoods can render a
claim ‘‘false or fraudulent’’ under 31 U.S.C.
§ 3729(a)(1)(A).  United States v. San-
ford–Brown, Ltd., 788 F.3d 696, 711–712

1. Although Universal Health submitted some
of the claims at issue before 2009, we as-
sume—as the parties have done—that the
2009 amendments to the False Claims Act

apply here.  Universal Health does not argue,
and we thus do not consider, whether pre–
2009 conduct should be treated differently.
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(2015).  Other courts have accepted the
theory, but limit its application to cases
where defendants fail to disclose violations
of expressly designated conditions of pay-
ment.  E.g., Mikes v. Straus, 274 F.3d 687,
700 (C.A.2 2001).  Yet others hold that
conditions of payment need not be ex-
pressly designated as such to be a basis
for False Claims Act liability.  E.g., Unit-
ed States v. Science Applications Int’l
Corp., 626 F.3d 1257, 1269 (C.A.D.C.2010)
(SAIC ).

II
[1–3] We first hold that the implied

false certification theory can, at least in
some circumstances, provide a basis for
liability.  By punishing defendants who
submit ‘‘false or fraudulent claims,’’ the
False Claims Act encompasses claims that
make fraudulent misrepresentations, which
include certain misleading omissions.
When, as here, a defendant makes repre-
sentations in submitting a claim but omits
its violations of statutory, regulatory, or
contractual requirements, those omissions
can be a basis for liability if they render
the defendant’s representations misleading
with respect to the goods or services pro-
vided.

[4, 5] To reach this conclusion, ‘‘[w]e
start, as always, with the language of the
statute.’’  Allison Engine Co. v. United
States ex rel. Sanders, 553 U.S. 662, 668,
128 S.Ct. 2123, 170 L.Ed.2d 1030 (2008)
(brackets in original;  internal quotation
marks omitted).  The False Claims Act
imposes civil liability on ‘‘any person who
TTT knowingly presents, or causes to be
presented, a false or fraudulent claim for
payment or approval.’’ § 3729(a)(1)(A).

Congress did not define what makes a
claim ‘‘false’’ or ‘‘fraudulent.’’  But ‘‘[i]t is a
settled principle of interpretation that, ab-
sent other indication, Congress intends to
incorporate the well-settled meaning of the
common-law terms it uses.’’  Sekhar v.
United States, 570 U.S. ––––, ––––, 133
S.Ct. 2720, 2724, 186 L.Ed.2d 794 (2013)
(internal quotation marks omitted).  And
the term ‘‘fraudulent’’ is a paradigmatic
example of a statutory term that incorpo-
rates the common-law meaning of fraud.
See Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 22,
119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999) (the
term ‘‘actionable ‘fraud’ ’’ is one with ‘‘a
well-settled meaning at common law’’).2

[6] Because common-law fraud has
long encompassed certain misrepresenta-
tions by omission, ‘‘false or fraudulent
claims’’ include more than just claims con-
taining express falsehoods.  The parties
and the Government agree that misrepre-
sentations by omission can give rise to
liability.  Brief for Petitioner 30–31;  Brief
for Respondents 22–31;  Brief for United
States as Amicus Curiae 16–20.

The parties instead dispute whether
submitting a claim without disclosing viola-
tions of statutory, regulatory, or contractu-
al requirements constitutes such an action-
able misrepresentation.  Respondents and
the Government invoke the common-law
rule that, while nondisclosure alone ordi-
narily is not actionable, ‘‘[a] representation
stating the truth so far as it goes but
which the maker knows or believes to be
materially misleading because of his failure
to state additional or qualifying matter’’ is
actionable.  Restatement (Second) of Torts
§ 529, p. 62 (1976).  They contend that
every submission of a claim for payment

2. The False Claims Act abrogates the common
law in certain respects.  For instance, the
Act’s scienter requirement ‘‘require[s] no
proof of specific intent to defraud.’’  31
U.S.C. § 3729(b)(1)(B).  But we presume that

Congress retained all other elements of com-
mon-law fraud that are consistent with the
statutory text because there are no textual
indicia to the contrary.  See Neder, 527 U.S.,
at 24–25, 119 S.Ct. 1827.
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implicitly represents that the claimant is
legally entitled to payment, and that fail-
ing to disclose violations of material legal
requirements renders the claim mislead-
ing.  Universal Health, on the other hand,
argues that submitting a claim involves no
representations, and that a different com-
mon-law rule thus governs:  nondisclosure
of legal violations is not actionable absent
a special ‘‘ ‘duty TTT to exercise reasonable
care to disclose the matter in question,’ ’’
which it says is lacking in Government
contracting.  Brief for Petitioner 31 (quot-
ing Restatement (Second) of Torts
§ 551(1), at 119).

[7, 8] We need not resolve whether all
claims for payment implicitly represent
that the billing party is legally entitled to
payment.  The claims in this case do more
than merely demand payment.  They fall
squarely within the rule that half-truths—
representations that state the truth only so
far as it goes, while omitting critical quali-
fying information—can be actionable mis-
representations.3  A classic example of an
actionable half-truth in contract law is the
seller who reveals that there may be two
new roads near a property he is selling,
but fails to disclose that a third potential
road might bisect the property.  See Juni-
us Constr. Co. v. Cohen, 257 N.Y. 393, 400,
178 N.E. 672, 674 (1931) (Cardozo, J.).
‘‘The enumeration of two streets, described
as unopened but projected, was a tacit
representation that the land to be con-
veyed was subject to no others, and cer-
tainly subject to no others materially af-
fecting the value of the purchase.’’  Ibid.
Likewise, an applicant for an adjunct posi-
tion at a local college makes an actionable

misrepresentation when his resume lists
prior jobs and then retirement, but fails to
disclose that his ‘‘retirement’’ was a prison
stint for perpetrating a $12 million bank
fraud.  See 3 D. Dobbs, P. Hayden, & H.
Bublick, Law of Torts § 682, pp. 702–703,
and n. 14 (2d ed. 2011) (citing Sarvis v.
Vermont State Colleges, 172 Vt. 76, 78, 80–
82, 772 A.2d 494, 496, 497–499 (2001)).

So too here, by submitting claims for
payment using payment codes that corre-
sponded to specific counseling services,
Universal Health represented that it had
provided individual therapy, family thera-
py, preventive medication counseling, and
other types of treatment.  Moreover, Arb-
our staff members allegedly made further
representations in submitting Medicaid re-
imbursement claims by using National
Provider Identification numbers corre-
sponding to specific job titles.  And these
representations were clearly misleading in
context.  Anyone informed that a social
worker at a Massachusetts mental health
clinic provided a teenage patient with indi-
vidual counseling services would proba-
bly—but wrongly—conclude that the clinic
had complied with core Massachusetts
Medicaid requirements (1) that a counselor
‘‘treating children [is] required to have
specialized training and experience in chil-
dren’s services,’’ 130 Code Mass. Regs.
§ 429.422, and also (2) that, at a minimum,
the social worker possesses the prescribed
qualifications for the job, § 429.424(C).
By using payment and other codes that
conveyed this information without disclos-
ing Arbour’s many violations of basic staff
and licensing requirements for mental

3. This rule recurs throughout the common
law.  In tort law, for example, ‘‘if the defen-
dant does speak, he must disclose enough to
prevent his words from being misleading.’’
W. Keeton, D. Dobbs, R. Keeton, & D. Owen,
Prosser and Keeton on Law of Torts § 106, p.
738 (5th ed. 1984).  Contract law also em-

braces this principle.  See, e.g., Restatement
(Second) of Contracts § 161, Comment a, p.
432 (1979).  And we have used this definition
in other statutory contexts.  See, e.g., Matrixx
Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusano, 563 U.S. 27, 44,
131 S.Ct. 1309, 179 L.Ed.2d 398 (2011) (secu-
rities law).
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health facilities, Universal Health’s claims
constituted misrepresentations.

[9] Accordingly, we hold that the im-
plied certification theory can be a basis for
liability, at least where two conditions are
satisfied:  first, the claim does not merely
request payment, but also makes specific
representations about the goods or ser-
vices provided;  and second, the defen-
dant’s failure to disclose noncompliance
with material statutory, regulatory, or con-
tractual requirements makes those repre-
sentations misleading half-truths.4

III
[10–12] The second question presented

is whether, as Universal Health urges, a
defendant should face False Claims Act
liability only if it fails to disclose the viola-
tion of a contractual, statutory, or regula-
tory provision that the Government ex-
pressly designated a condition of payment.
We conclude that the Act does not impose
this limit on liability.  But we also con-
clude that not every undisclosed violation
of an express condition of payment auto-
matically triggers liability.  Whether a
provision is labeled a condition of payment
is relevant to but not dispositive of the
materiality inquiry.

A
[13] Nothing in the text of the False

Claims Act supports Universal Health’s
proposed restriction.  Section
3729(a)(1)(A) imposes liability on those
who present ‘‘false or fraudulent claims’’
but does not limit such claims to misrepre-
sentations about express conditions of pay-
ment.  See SAIC, 626 F.3d, at 1268 (re-

jecting any textual basis for an express-
designation rule).  Nor does the common-
law meaning of fraud tether liability to
violating an express condition of payment.
A statement that misleadingly omits criti-
cal facts is a misrepresentation irrespec-
tive of whether the other party has ex-
pressly signaled the importance of the
qualifying information.  Supra, at 1999 –
2001.

The False Claims Act’s materiality re-
quirement also does not support Universal
Health.  Under the Act, the misrepresen-
tation must be material to the other par-
ty’s course of action.  But, as discussed
below, see infra, at 2003 – 2004, statutory,
regulatory, and contractual requirements
are not automatically material, even if they
are labeled conditions of payment.  Cf.
Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusano,
563 U.S. 27, 39, 131 S.Ct. 1309, 179
L.Ed.2d 398 (2011) (materiality cannot rest
on ‘‘a single fact or occurrence as always
determinative’’ (internal quotation marks
omitted)).

Nor does the Act’s scienter requirement,
§ 3729(b)(1)(A), support Universal
Health’s position.  A defendant can have
‘‘actual knowledge’’ that a condition is ma-
terial without the Government expressly
calling it a condition of payment.  If the
Government failed to specify that guns it
orders must actually shoot, but the defen-
dant knows that the Government routinely
rescinds contracts if the guns do not shoot,
the defendant has ‘‘actual knowledge.’’
Likewise, because a reasonable person
would realize the imperative of a function-
ing firearm, a defendant’s failure to appre-
ciate the materiality of that condition

4. As an alternative argument, Universal
Health asserts that misleading partial disclo-
sures constitute fraudulent misrepresentations
only when the initial statement partially dis-
closed unfavorable information.  Not so.
‘‘[A] statement that contains only favorable

matters and omits all reference to unfavorable
matters is as much a false representation as if
all the facts stated were untrue.’’  Restate-
ment (Second) of Torts, § 529, Comment a,
pp. 62–63 (1976).
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would amount to ‘‘deliberate ignorance’’ or
‘‘reckless disregard’’ of the ‘‘truth or falsity
of the information’’ even if the Government
did not spell this out.

[14] Universal Health nonetheless con-
tends that False Claims Act liability
should be limited to undisclosed violations
of expressly designated conditions of pay-
ment to provide defendants with fair notice
and to cabin liability.  But policy argu-
ments cannot supersede the clear statuto-
ry text.  Kloeckner v. Solis, 568 U.S. ––––,
–––– – ––––, n. 4, 133 S.Ct. 596, 607, n. 4,
184 L.Ed.2d 433 (2012).  In any event,
Universal Health’s approach risks under-
cutting these policy goals.  The Govern-
ment might respond by designating every
legal requirement an express condition of
payment.  But billing parties are often
subject to thousands of complex statutory
and regulatory provisions.  Facing False
Claims Act liability for violating any of
them would hardly help would-be defen-
dants anticipate and prioritize compliance
obligations.  And forcing the Government
to expressly designate a provision as a
condition of payment would create further
arbitrariness.  Under Universal Health’s
view, misrepresenting compliance with a
requirement that the Government express-
ly identified as a condition of payment
could expose a defendant to liability.  Yet,
under this theory, misrepresenting compli-
ance with a condition of eligibility to even
participate in a federal program when sub-
mitting a claim would not.

Moreover, other parts of the False
Claims Act allay Universal Health’s con-
cerns.  ‘‘[I]nstead of adopting a circum-
scribed view of what it means for a claim
to be false or fraudulent,’’ concerns about
fair notice and open-ended liability ‘‘can be
effectively addressed through strict en-
forcement of the Act’s materiality and
scienter requirements.’’  SAIC, supra, at
1270.  Those requirements are rigorous.

B

[15] As noted, a misrepresentation
about compliance with a statutory, regula-
tory, or contractual requirement must be
material to the Government’s payment de-
cision in order to be actionable under the
False Claims Act. We now clarify how that
materiality requirement should be en-
forced.

Section 3729(b)(4) defines materiality us-
ing language that we have employed to
define materiality in other federal fraud
statutes:  ‘‘[T]he term ‘material’ means
having a natural tendency to influence, or
be capable of influencing, the payment or
receipt of money or property.’’  See Ned-
er, 527 U.S., at 16, 119 S.Ct. 1827 (using
this definition to interpret the mail, bank,
and wire fraud statutes);  Kungys v. Unit-
ed States, 485 U.S. 759, 770, 108 S.Ct.
1537, 99 L.Ed.2d 839 (1988) (same for
fraudulent statements to immigration offi-
cials).  This materiality requirement de-
scends from ‘‘common-law antecedents.’’
Id., at 769, 108 S.Ct. 1537.  Indeed, ‘‘the
common law could not have conceived of
‘fraud’ without proof of materiality.’’  Ned-
er, supra, at 22, 119 S.Ct. 1827;  see also
Brief for United States as Amicus Curiae
30 (describing common-law principles and
arguing that materiality under the False
Claims Act should involve a ‘‘similar ap-
proach’’).

[16, 17] We need not decide whether
§ 3729(a)(1)(A)’s materiality requirement
is governed by § 3729(b)(4) or derived di-
rectly from the common law.  Under any
understanding of the concept, materiality
‘‘look[s] to the effect on the likely or actual
behavior of the recipient of the alleged
misrepresentation.’’  26 R. Lord, Williston
on Contracts § 69:12, p. 549 (4th ed. 2003)
(Williston).  In tort law, for instance, a
‘‘matter is material’’ in only two circum-
stances:  (1) ‘‘[if] a reasonable man would
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attach importance to [it] in determining
his choice of action in the transaction’’;  or
(2) if the defendant knew or had reason to
know that the recipient of the representa-
tion attaches importance to the specific
matter ‘‘in determining his choice of ac-
tion,’’ even though a reasonable person
would not.  Restatement (Second) of Torts
§ 538, at 80.  Materiality in contract law
is substantially similar.  See Restatement
(Second) of Contracts § 162(2), and Com-
ment c, pp. 439, 441 (1979) (‘‘[A] misrepre-
sentation is material’’ only if it would
‘‘likely TTT induce a reasonable person to
manifest his assent,’’ or the defendant
‘‘knows that for some special reason [the
representation] is likely to induce the par-
ticular recipient to manifest his assent’’ to
the transaction).5

[18–21] The materiality standard is de-
manding.  The False Claims Act is not ‘‘an
all-purpose antifraud statute,’’ Allison En-
gine, 553 U.S., at 672, 128 S.Ct. 2123 or a
vehicle for punishing garden-variety
breaches of contract or regulatory viola-
tions.  A misrepresentation cannot be
deemed material merely because the Gov-
ernment designates compliance with a par-
ticular statutory, regulatory, or contractual
requirement as a condition of payment.
Nor is it sufficient for a finding of materi-
ality that the Government would have the
option to decline to pay if it knew of the
defendant’s noncompliance.  Materiality,
in addition, cannot be found where non-
compliance is minor or insubstantial.  See

United States ex rel. Marcus v. Hess, 317
U.S. 537, 543, 63 S.Ct. 379, 87 L.Ed. 443
(1943) (contractors’ misrepresentation that
they satisfied a non-collusive bidding re-
quirement for federal program contracts
violated the False Claims Act because
‘‘[t]he government’s money would never
have been placed in the joint fund for
payment to respondents had its agents
known the bids were collusive’’);  see also
Junius Constr., 257 N.Y., at 400, 178 N.E.,
at 674 (an undisclosed fact was material
because ‘‘[n]o one can say with reason that
the plaintiff would have signed this con-
tract if informed of the likelihood’’ of the
undisclosed fact).

[22–24] In sum, when evaluating ma-
teriality under the False Claims Act, the
Government’s decision to expressly identi-
fy a provision as a condition of payment is
relevant, but not automatically dispositive.
Likewise, proof of materiality can include,
but is not necessarily limited to, evidence
that the defendant knows that the Gov-
ernment consistently refuses to pay claims
in the mine run of cases based on non-
compliance with the particular statutory,
regulatory, or contractual requirement.
Conversely, if the Government pays a par-
ticular claim in full despite its actual
knowledge that certain requirements were
violated, that is very strong evidence that
those requirements are not material.  Or,
if the Government regularly pays a partic-
ular type of claim in full despite actual

5. Accord, Williston § 69:12, pp. 549–550
(‘‘most popular’’ understanding is ‘‘that a
misrepresentation is material if it concerns a
matter to which a reasonable person would
attach importance in determining his or her
choice of action with respect to the transac-
tion involved:  which will induce action by a
complaining party[,] knowledge of which
would have induced the recipient to act differ-
ently’’ (footnote omitted));  id., at 550 (noting
rule that ‘‘a misrepresentation is material if,
had it not been made, the party complaining

of fraud would not have taken the action
alleged to have been induced by the misrepre-
sentation’’);  Junius Constr. Co. v. Cohen, 257
N.Y. 393, 400, 178 N.E. 672, 674 (1931) (a
misrepresentation is material if it ‘‘went to
the very essence of the bargain’’);  cf. Neder v.
United States, 527 U.S. 1, 16, 22, n. 5, 119
S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999) (relying on
‘‘ ‘natural tendency to influence’ ’’ standard
and citing Restatement (Second) of Torts
§ 538 definition of materiality).
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knowledge that certain requirements were
violated, and has signaled no change in
position, that is strong evidence that the
requirements are not material.6

[25] These rules lead us to disagree
with the Government’s and First Circuit’s
view of materiality:  that any statutory,
regulatory, or contractual violation is ma-
terial so long as the defendant knows that
the Government would be entitled to re-
fuse payment were it aware of the viola-
tion.  See Brief for United States as
Amicus Curiae 30;  Tr. of Oral Arg. 43
(Government’s ‘‘test’’ for materiality ‘‘is
whether the person knew that the govern-
ment could lawfully withhold payment’’);
780 F.3d, at 514;  see also Tr. of Oral
Arg. 26, 29 (statements by respondents’
counsel endorsing this view).  At oral ar-
gument, the United States explained the
implications of its position:  If the Govern-
ment contracts for health services and
adds a requirement that contractors buy
American-made staplers, anyone who sub-
mits a claim for those services but fails to
disclose its use of foreign staplers violates
the False Claims Act. To the Government,
liability would attach if the defendant’s
use of foreign staplers would entitle the
Government not to pay the claim in whole
or part—irrespective of whether the Gov-
ernment routinely pays claims despite
knowing that foreign staplers were used.
Id., at 39–45.  Likewise, if the Govern-
ment required contractors to aver their
compliance with the entire U.S. Code and
Code of Federal Regulations, then under
this view, failing to mention noncompli-
ance with any of those requirements
would always be material.  The False

Claims Act does not adopt such an ex-
traordinarily expansive view of liability.

* * *
[26] Because both opinions below as-

sessed respondents’ complaint based on
interpretations of § 3729(a)(1)(A) that dif-
fer from ours, we vacate the First Circuit’s
judgment and remand the case for recon-
sideration of whether respondents have
sufficiently pleaded a False Claims Act
violation.  See Omnicare, Inc. v. Laborers
Dist. Council Constr. Industry Pension
Fund, 575 U.S. ––––, ––––, 135 S.Ct. 1318,
1332–1333, 191 L.Ed.2d 253 (2015).  We
emphasize, however, that the False Claims
Act is not a means of imposing treble
damages and other penalties for insignifi-
cant regulatory or contractual violations.
This case centers on allegations of fraud,
not medical malpractice.  Respondents
have alleged that Universal Health misrep-
resented its compliance with mental health
facility requirements that are so central to
the provision of mental health counseling
that the Medicaid program would not have
paid these claims had it known of these
violations.  Respondents may well have
adequately pleaded a violation of
§ 3729(a)(1)(A).  But we leave it to the
courts below to resolve this in the first
instance.

The judgment of the Court of Appeals is
vacated, and the case is remanded for fur-
ther proceedings consistent with this opin-
ion.

It is so ordered.

,
 

6. We reject Universal Health’s assertion that
materiality is too fact intensive for courts to
dismiss False Claims Act cases on a motion to
dismiss or at summary judgment.  The stan-
dard for materiality that we have outlined is a
familiar and rigorous one.  And False Claims

Act plaintiffs must also plead their claims
with plausibility and particularity under Fed-
eral Rules of Civil Procedure 8 and 9(b) by,
for instance, pleading facts to support allega-
tions of materiality.


